RECEIVED

Apr 18 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

v.

MONTRELLE LAMONT CAMPBELL,

RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000349

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

HONORABLE SCARLETT WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in its analysis of malice for attempted murder under *State v. King* and S.C. Code of Laws § 16-3-29, and in its disregard for the copious amount of direct and circumstantial evidence supporting a finding of malice?**

- II. In considering *State v. Burdette*, did the Court of Appeals err by misapplying the standard for harmless error and resting its decision to reverse on the assumption that the jury could have ignored the other evidence of malice in the record?**

- III. Did the Court of Appeals fail to properly apply the “any evidence” standard to the accomplice liability instruction given at trial when the evidence demonstrated that a second gunman was seen fleeing the scene, two cell phones were found at the scene, two brands of ammunition were found at the scene, no ballistics evidence was offered demonstrating all ammunition was fired by the same gun, and the video evidence of Campbell and co-defendant Richardson is not of sufficient quality to confirm their respective identities with absolute certainty?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Campbell was indicted on April 11, 2016, by a Charleston County Grand Jury for murder and two counts of attempted murder. Respondent proceeded to trial on January 8, 2018, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, and a jury. (R. p. 1). The State was represented at trial by Assistant Solicitors Chad Simpson and Alex Ginsberg. (R. p. 1). Attorneys Mary Ford and Michael Williams represented Campbell. (R. p. 1). At the conclusion of trial on January 12, 2018, the jury found Campbell guilty as indicted. (R. p. 554, line 9 through p. 555, line 14). Campbell was sentenced to life without parole for murder and to concurrent thirty year sentences for each count of attempted murder. (R. p. 556, lines 7-14).

Campbell filed a timely notice of appeal on January 23, 2018. He sought reversal of his conviction on the grounds that a *Belcher* charge for implied malice was improper for an attempted murder charge under *King* and that there was no evidence in the record to warrant the trial court giving a hand of one is the hand of all jury charge. The parties completed briefing on August 16, 2019, and conducted oral argument on September 15, 2021. The Court of Appeals reversed Campbell's conviction by its Opinion filed December 22, 2021. *State v. Campbell*, 435 S.C. 528, 868 S.E.2d 414 (Ct. App. 2021), reh'g denied (Feb. 24, 2022). The State filed a Petition for Rehearing on January 6, 2022. The Court of Appeals requested Campbell file a Return to the Petition for Rehearing on January 7, 2022. Campbell filed his Return on January 14, 2022, and the Court of Appeals later denied the Petition for Rehearing on February 24, 2022.

This Petition for Writ of Certiorari now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Campbell visited the home of Katrina Brown on the night of September 17, 2015. Campbell's sister, Kadeshia, along with other visitors, were at Katrina's home that night, but Katrina was not familiar with Campbell and asked him repeatedly to leave. (R. p. 23, line 7; p. 29, lines 12-25; p. 30, line 5 through p. 31, line 11). Soon after, she stepped outside to smoke a cigarette and was attacked by Campbell. Campbell struck Katrina in the head and appeared ready to continue the attack, but he was interrupted by other party goers who came out to intervene. Their presence caused Campbell to back away. It appeared as though Campbell was going to pull something out of his car, but ultimately Campbell left. (R. p. 31, line 16 through p. 32, line 10; p. 33-34). Katrina learned the following day (Friday) that people in town were already talking about Campbell hitting her that night. ((R. p. 36, lines 15-24). Friday evening Katrina hosted friends and family at her

home again, a get together that ran into Saturday morning when Victim Antwan Frost arrived. (App., p. 37-38).

Less than 36 hours after assaulting Katrina - sometime after 4am on September 19, 2015 – Campbell took the keys to his girlfriend’s car without her permission, and convinced his friend, co-defendant Trivelle Richardson (hereinafter “Richardson”), to join him on a drive into Charleston. Richardson testified that Campbell told him they were going to get cigarettes, but that Campbell passed the store and continued into downtown. (R. p. 260-265; p. 230).

Video surveillance captured the car as it parked on Nunan Street, near Katrina’s home on Norman Street. (App., p. 23-24; p. 465; p. 207). Tomeka President, Campbell’s girlfriend, testified that the gold Buick Century in the surveillance video was hers, and that she called a taxi and was late to work due to the surprising absence of her car that morning. (R. p. 232, line 19 through p. 233, line 15; p. 237, line 15 through p. 239, line 7; p. 240, line 4-24). Video footage shows two Africa-American individuals pulling up to Nunan Street, with one of the individuals staying in the car and the other retrieving a rifle from the car and walking up the street in the direction of Katrina’s home. (R. p. 207, lines 4-25). The video is not of sufficient quality to positively identify these individuals with absolute certainty. These individuals were later believed to be identified by police as Richardson and Campbell. (R. p. 348-349). Moments later you see the individual with the gun running back to the car. (R. p. 346, lines 11-14). According Richardson, whom testified on behalf of the state, he was the individual in the video who initially stayed with the car. (R. p. 286, lines 11-15). He testified that it was Campbell who walked off toward [Gadsden] Green, then came running back after the shooting, and instructed him to get in the driver seat and drive away. (R. p. 271; p277, line 18 through p. 279, line 9).

At approximately 6:30am, Katrina Brown was in her home with numerous guests, including her sister Kerri Brown, her cousin, Tierra Brown, and her longtime friend Antwan Frost. They were enjoying their get-together when a hail of gunfire into the crowded apartment ensued. (R. p. 41-42; p. 39, p. 73). Kerri and Tierra were both injured, with Kerri taking a bullet that grazed her head and Tierra taking a bullet that struck her arm. (R. p. 76-78; p. 95). Mr. Frost was struck in the heart and died at the scene. (R. p. 194).

The state put forth evidence at trial that demonstrated the following: 14 total rounds of high-caliber ammunition were fired into the apartment from the rear porch area. (R. 122, line 20 through p. 123, line 9; p. 133, line 13 through p. 134, line 4). These 14 rounds were not all of the same brand of ammunition. (R. p. 134-135; p. 137). No gun was ever recovered and no ballistic evidence was presented to the jury that would demonstrate all of the ammunition was fired from the same gun. Police also recovered two cellphones from the location where the guns were fired (as indicated by the location of the spent shell casings). (R. p. 157-158).

In addition to the evidence presented by the State, the defense entered the testimony of Peggy Blake, who lived on Bogard Street near the scene of the crime. (R. p. 432). She testified to hearing the nearby gunfire and saw a separate "hooded individual", carrying a "sporty rifle", leaving from the area where the shooting had just taken place. She testified that this individual left the area in a lime green car. (R. p. 433-434).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals committed reversible error in its analysis of malice for attempted murder under *State v. King* and S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29, and in its disregard for the copious amount of direct and circumstantial evidence supporting a finding of malice.**

The Court of Appeals' reversal involves a conglomeration of errors concerning the interplay of attempted murder, specific intent, and inferred malice. This case no doubt involves an area of law that has come into recent confusion in our State, and certiorari is warranted to address that confusion to ensure proper adjudication in the future. However, the Court of Appeals' opinion is not merely one that insufficiently addresses a confusing topic – it is one that reaches egregiously improper legal and factual conclusions. The Court of Appeals' errors include finding: 1) that attempted murder, currently viewed as a specific intent crime, cannot be accompanied by instruction of the jury's right to infer malice from the facts presented; 2) that the State acquiesced to such a legal construct and relied solely upon evidence of express malice; and 3) that there is insufficient record evidence demonstrating malice other than Campbell's use of a deadly weapon.

The Court of Appeals' first error, that a specific intent attempted murder charge is comprehensively inconsistent with inferred malice, is a legal finding in conflict with both *King* and the controlling statutory law of South Carolina. This improper holding can be found from the outset of the court's legal analysis, wherein it stated: "Campbell argues the trial court erred by giving an inferred malice jury instruction because attempted murder is a specific intent crime and requires both express malice and a specific intent to kill pursuant to our supreme court's ruling in *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017). We agree." *State v. Campbell*, 435 S.C. 528, 535, 868 S.E.2d 414, 418 (Ct. App. 2021), reh'g denied (Feb. 24, 2022). This holding is in direct conflict with the express language of S.C. Code of Laws Ann. § 16-3-29, dictating that attempted

murder is explicitly satisfied by “malice aforethought, either express or implied”. Likewise, though this Court discussed tangentially the topic of implied malice for attempted murder in *King*, it explicitly did not reach a legal holding on the issue the Court of Appeals now relies. The Court of Appeals holding is without controlling authority of any kind, and the holding itself is in error.

This issue reaches further than the post-trial application of *Burdette*. In *Burdette*, this Court held that trial courts should not explicitly instruct the jury on the inference of malice it may make as to the use of a deadly weapon. However, nowhere has this Court ever suggested that a jury is not permitted to make inferences as it sees fit from the circumstantial evidence presented in a case. Not all evidence of malice will be “direct evidence of malice” such that the defendant explicitly announces his evil intentions/hatred/ill-will/hostility (i.e. malice) ahead of time. Real world attempted murder does not usually have the script of a Bond film. Reaching reasonable inferences from circumstantial evidence has been a bedrock component of our nation’s jury system since its founding. However, the Court of Appeals improperly concludes that “express and implied malice” in the context of attempted murder, must depart from its correlative understanding that these are not “different types of malice” merely the same malice proven via direct or circumstantial evidence (as was charged to the jury in this case). (R. p. 534). Contrary to the Court of Appeals ruling, no such limitation exists and the State argued vehemently against such a legal limitation.¹

An individual can harbor a specific intent kill without every one of his actions being an overt demonstration of the malice for such intent. The jury’s ability to infer malice from the circumstances of the case is critical and proper. Nevertheless, there is without question explicit

¹ Adding to the perplexing finding of the Court of Appeals, which explicitly found attempted murder to be only provable through “express malice”, the Court of Appeals relied extensively upon *State v. Brooks* for both legal and factual comparison. However, *Brooks* does not discuss “express malice” at all. Respondent cannot factually or legally square the Court of Appeals’ reliance upon *Brooks* with the holding the Court of Appeals chose to reach in this case.

evidence of malice in this record that requires no need for inference – be it called “express malice” or “direct evidence of malice”. And, such would be more than enough to support the jury’s finding of malice, without reliance upon the implied malice from the use of a deadly weapon charge.

However, in addition to the legal errors articulated above, the Court of Appeals disregarded the considerable evidence of malice that existed within the record, due at least in part to its erroneous analysis of how malice may be demonstrated. The Court of Appeals considered the State’s evidence of malice to be limited to “evidence that Campbell had recently hit Katrina, Campbell drove across town in his girlfriend’s car, and fourteen rounds were fired from the rifle into Katrina’s apartment.” *Campbell*, 868 S.E.2d at 419. While this is incidentally a concession by the court that evidence of malice exists (*infra*), the Court of Appeals misses the mark by being dismissive of numerous other instances of malice within the record.

This Court held that “Campbell’s previous altercation with Katrina and Campbell driving across town “is not a total disregard for human life like the defendant in *Brooks* displayed.” Such language is one of the ways in which malice may be *inferred*. A jury could easily infer Campbell demonstrated ill-will with an intent to do harm by these actions. In fact, historically, evidence of prior grudges, lying in wait, lying in ambush, and preparation for the crime have all been identified as evidence of malice *that does not require inference by the jury*. See *State v. Smith*, 430 S.C. 226, 233, 845 S.E.2d 495, 498 (2020); *State v. Judge*, 208 S.C. 497, 506, 38 S.E.2d 715, 720 (1946); *State v. Strickland*, 147 S.C. 514, 145 S.E. 404, 405 (1928), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009); *State v. Alford*, 264 S.C. 26, 32, 212 S.E.2d 252, 254 (1975), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009) (citing 40 C.J.S. Homicide s 209). Suggesting that Appellant’s prior physical attack upon Katrina and his driving across town do not satisfy a “total disregard for human life” standard is to

misconstrue the purpose of malice evidence. The evidence shows motive, ill-will, and premeditation of Campbell's intent to kill.

Next, there is a distinction to be made between "inferring malice from the use of deadly weapon" and the "manner in which that deadly weapon was used." Someone committing a shooting in such a way that it could realistically and deliberately result in the deaths of numerous unsuspecting men, women, and children is a demonstration of malice in its most obvious form. There is no explanation for such actions and it demonstrates that the manner in which a shooting takes place can serve as evidence of malice beyond the simple use of a deadly weapon that this Court no longer wishes to see expressly charged. All of which is to say, notwithstanding the *Burdette* issue in this case, *the nature of the case itself is inherently malicious*. Though the Court of Appeals itemized "someone firing a weapon fourteen times" as one of the State's instances of malice, it provided no explanation for why such actions would not carry substantial weight toward establishing malice in this case beyond the limitations of *Burdette*; the Court of Appeals essentially disregarding the nature of Campbell's crime entirely from its reasoning.

Having listed only the above three indications of express malice, the Court of Appeals disregards the additional evidence of preparation for the crime. Campbell² 1) took someone else's car without permission *during the early morning hours* so as to commit the crime without being seen, 2) acquired the services of a friend³ to park his getaway car *away from the scene*, 3) arranged it so that his friend would serve as a getaway driver, 4) walked on foot in the early morning hours to Katrina's apartment while carrying with him an assault rifle, 5) committed the crime in a "lying

² Presumably, Campbell *is at least one of the gunmen* who committed this shooting. (*Infra*).

³ The State's theory of the case is that this friend is Trivell Richardson, but Petitioner argues the video does not provide absolute proof as to which culprit is which, leaving Richardson the possibility of switching his role in the crime with that of Campbell's, and making an accomplice liability charge necessary. (*Infra*).

in wait/lying in ambush” manner, such that the victims were unaware of his presence and intentions, 6) ran from the scene without concern for the well-being of the apartment’s occupants – constituting positive evidence of his deliberate intention to take life, and 7) ran back to the getaway vehicle and had his friend drive away from the scene. Each of these actions is a separate and distinct portion of the Campbell’s planning and preparation for the shooting, and they each constitute evidence of malice. Moreover, as evidence of preparation for the crime itself, these actions do not *require* inference to demonstrate ill-will. They are direct evidence that Campbell formulated in his mind the desire to 1) go to the scene of a prior dispute, 2) shoot 14 rounds into a crowded apartment so as to kill the individuals residing in that location, and 3) evade responsibility for the crime. Inexplicably, however, none of these facts were considered by the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals did not abide by the express statutory language set forth in § 16-3-29, it then stretched this Court’s opinion in *King* well beyond its legal holding and ruled that an attempted murder charge can only be supported by evidence of “express malice”. To compound these legal errors, the Court of Appeals then disregarded substantial evidence of malice in reaching its decision to reverse. Certiorari should be granted in this matter to correct the Court of Appeals’ errors of law and fact. Certiorari should also be granted to clarify an area of law plagued by confusion and inconsistency.

II. In considering *State v. Burdette*, the Court of Appeals erred by misapplying the standard for harmless error and resting its decision to reverse on the assumption that the jury could have ignored the other evidence of malice in the record.

In addition to the Court of Appeals’ errors of law and fact concerning *King* and § 16-3-29, the Court of Appeals also failed to properly apply the standard for harmless error, conceded that evidence of malice was present within the record, and based its decision to reverse on the

assumption that the jury could have ignored the “non-*Burdette*” evidence of malice within the record. Certiorari should be granted to correct this error of law.

The Court of Appeals asserted the following recitation of law for harmless error review of a jury instruction:

‘An erroneous instruction alone is insufficient to warrant this [c]ourt’s reversal.’ *Id.* at 496, 832 S.E.2d at 578. ‘[E]rroneous jury instructions are subject to a harmless error analysis.’ *State v. Smith*, 430 S.C. 226, 233, 845 S.E.2d 495, 498 (2020). ‘When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must ‘determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.’ *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 496, 832 S.E.2d at 578 (quoting *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014)). ‘In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.’ *Id.* at 496, 832 S.E.2d at 578-79 (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 145, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)).

Campbell, 868 S.E.2d at 419. This is not an inaccurate statement of law. However, the Court of Appeals cannot avoid reversible error by correctly reciting law and then inappropriately applying that law. Such error exists in the fact that the Court of Appeals expressly conceded the presence of direct evidence of malice in the record, but erroneously construed the harmless error paradigm to support the contention that a jury instruction is not harmless if the jury “could have” relied upon that erroneous instruction.

The Court of Appeals’ errors are demonstrated within the following excerpts from its opinion.

- i. “In the present case, the evidence of express malice is significantly less than the amount in *Brooks*.”⁴

⁴ Respondent would also dispute the conclusion that *Brooks* carries more evidence of malice, given the lying in ambush style shooting that killed one and endangered numerous other individuals. It

ii. “The jury could have reasonably found malice partially based on the use of a weapon.”

iii. “Indeed, the jury may have found malice based solely on the use of a weapon.”

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