STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jun 06 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5885 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 22, 2021)

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

MONTRELLE LAMONT CAMPBELL,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000349

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Expressed malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hatred or ill will for another or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished. For example, lying in wait for a person or any other acts of preparation going to show that the deed was within the defendant's mind would be expressed malice. Malice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life. **Inferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon. A deadly weapon is any article, instrument, or substance which is likely to cause death or great bodily harm. Whether an instrument has been used as a deadly weapon depends on the facts and circumstances of each case.**

...

The defendant is charged with attempted murder. In order to prove this crime the State must prove the defendant attempted to kill another person *with malice aforethought either expressed or implied*. Malice is hatred, ill will, or hostility towards another person. It is the intentional doing of [a] wrongful act [without] just cause or excuse and with an intent to inflict an injury or under circumstances that the law will infer an evil intent. Malice aforethought does not require that malice exist for any [particular] time before the act is committed. [But] malice must exist in the mind of the defendant just before and at the time the act is committed. Therefore, there must be a combination of the previous evil intent and the act.

Malice aforethought may be expressed or inferred by as I've explained. These terms express and inferred do not mean different kinds of malice. But merely the manner in which malice may be shown to exist. That is either by direct evidence or by inference from the facts and circumstances which are proven. Express malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hatred or ill will for another, or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished. For example, lying in wait for [a] person or any other acts or preparation going to show that the deed was within the defendant's mind would be expressed malice. Malice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life. **Inferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon. A deadly weapon is any article, instrument, or**

substance which [is] likely to cause death or greatly bodily harm. Whether an instrument has been used as a deadly weapon depends on the facts and circumstances of each case.

R. 533, l. 16 – 537, l. 16 (emphasis added).

Court of Appeals Opinion

The Court of Appeals held the trial court erred by instructing the jury that malice could be inferred by the use of a deadly weapon in light of this Court’s decision in State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019), where this Court held trial courts cannot instruct the jury that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon, regardless of the evidence presented. Campbell, 435 S.C. at 537, 868 S.E.2d at 419. The Court of Appeals emphasized that although this Court decided Burdette after Respondent’s trial, its holding applies to all cases that were pending on direct appeal if the issue was preserved, which it was in this case. Id.

The Court further agreed with Respondent that the trial court erred by giving an inferred malice instruction because attempted murder is a specific intent crime and requires both express malice and a specific intent to kill pursuant to this Court’s ruling in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017). Id. at 535, 868 S.E.2d at 418.

The Court of Appeals held the error was not harmless. Id. In so holding, the court cited the correct standard of review as stated by this Court in Burdette: “When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.” Id. at 537, 868 S.E.2d at 419 (citing Burdette, 427 S.C. at 496, 832 S.E.2d at 578); See State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014)). The court then distinguished this case from State v. Brooks, 428 S.C. 618, 837 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2019), where the Court of Appeals held the trial court’s error in giving an inferred malice instruction was harmless given the significant evidence of malice in that case. Id. at 537-538, 868 S.E.2d at 419. The court concluded the jury may have found

malice based solely on the use of a weapon and therefore the error was not harmless. Id. at 538, 868 S.E.2d at 419.

Discussion

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's holdings in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), and State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 577 (2019), in concluding that the trial court erred by charging the jury that malice may be inferred by the use of a deadly weapon, and that such error was not harmless.

In State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009), having carefully scrutinized the historical antecedents of the charge, this Court held trial courts should no longer give the inferred malice from the use of a deadly weapon instruction in cases in which evidence was presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify a homicide or an assault and battery with intent to kill. The Court recently extended the holding in Belcher in State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019), to prohibit trial courts from ever instructing juries that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon “regardless of the evidence presented at trial.”

Burdette was indicted and tried for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime after he shot and killed Evan Tyner. Id. at 493, 832 S.E.2d at 577. Burdette maintained the shooting was an accident. Id. The trial court ultimately charged the jury on murder, voluntary manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, and accident. Id. at 493-494, 832 S.E.2d at 577. Citing Belcher, Burdette objected to the court's proposed instruction that inferred malice could arise when a deadly weapon is used arguing the instruction was improper because there was evidence presented that could reduce, excuse, justify, or mitigate the homicide. Id. The jury acquitted Burdette of murder, but found him guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Id. at 494, 832 S.E.2d at 578.

This Court held the trial court erred in charging the jury that malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon in light of Belcher since there was evidence presented at trial that tended to reduce, mitigate, or justify Burdette's killing of the decedent. Id. at 495, 832 S.E.2d at 578. This Court emphasized that "[i]t is always for the jury to determine the facts, and the inferences that are to be drawn from these facts." Id. at 502, 832 S.E.2d at 582 (quoting State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 328, 737 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2013)). The Court further explained, "When the trial court tells the jury it may use evidence of the use of a deadly weapon to establish the existence of malice, a critical element of the charge of murder, the trial court has directly commented upon facts in evidence, elevated those facts, and emphasized them to the jury." Id.

Burdette, which was decided while this case was pending on appeal, made clear that trial courts cannot instruct the jury that malice may be inferred by the use of a deadly weapon, regardless of the evidence presented. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held the trial court erred by charging the jury that malice could be inferred by the use of a deadly weapon over Respondent's objection.

The state complains that the Court of Appeals erred by agreeing with Respondent that the trial court erred by giving the inferred malice jury instruction because attempted murder is a specific intent crime and requires both express malice and a specific intent to kill pursuant to this Court's ruling in State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017). See Campbell, 435 S.C. at 535, 868 S.E.2d at 418. The state maintains this "legal finding" (that attempted murder is inconsistent with inferred malice) is "in conflict with both King and the controlling statutory law of South Carolina." Pet. at 5. The state goes on to argue that the Court of Appeals' decision suggests a jury is not permitted to make inferences from the circumstantial evidence presented. Pet. at 6. However, nowhere in the Court of Appeals' opinion did it state that the jury was not permitted to infer malice from the circumstances of the case in considering a defendant's guilt

for attempted murder as the state asserts. Pet. at 5-6. The Court of Appeals merely held that the trial court's instruction that malice may be implied *by operation of law* was erroneous given this Court's ruling in King.

The offense of attempted murder is codified in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29. This statute states in relevant part, "A person who, *with intent to kill*, attempts to kill another person *with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied*, commits the offense of attempted murder." (emphasis added).

In King, which was published three months before this trial and referenced by the trial court, this Court held attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill as opposed to a general intent. The Court found our legislature "created the offense of attempted murder by purposefully adding the language 'with intent to kill' to 'malice aforethought, either expressed or implied' to require a higher level of *mens rea* for attempted murder than that of murder." Id. at 61, 810 S.E.2d at 25. The Court concluded "the additional language of 'with intent to kill' clearly elevates the required mental state above a general-intent crime." Id.

In reaching this conclusion, this Court cited favorably to Keys v. State, 104 Nev. 736, 766 P.2d 270 (1988). In Keys, the Supreme Court of Nevada held it was error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury that the specific intent to kill is an essential element of attempted murder. In support of its holding, the court distinguished the crimes of murder and attempted murder by analogizing express malice to a specific intent to kill. The court explained:

Attempted murder can be committed only when the accused's acts are accompanied by *express malice*, malice in fact. One cannot *attempt* to kill another with implied malice because there "is no such criminal offense as an attempt to achieve an unintended result." An attempt, by nature, is a failure to accomplish what one *intended* to do. Attempt means to try; it means an effort to bring about a desired result. Thus one cannot *attempt* to be negligent or *attempt* to have the general malignant recklessness contemplated by the legal concept, "implied malice." One cannot be guilty of attempted murder by implied malice because implied malice does not encompass the essential specific intent to kill.

An attempt to kill with express malice is, on the other hand, completely consistent with the specific intent requirement of the crime of attempt. Express malice is the “deliberate intention unlawfully” to kill a human. Attempted murder, then, is the attempt to kill a person with express malice, or more completely defined: Attempted murder is the performance of an act or acts which tend, but fail, to kill a human being, when such acts are done with express malice, namely, with the deliberate intention unlawfully to kill.

King, 422 S.C. at 57, 810 S.E.2d at 23 (quoting Keys v. State, 104 Nev. 736, 740, 766 P.2d 270, 273 (1988)).

In a footnote in King, this Court stated:

While we find it unnecessary to address King’s additional sustaining ground, **we would respectfully suggest to the General Assembly to re-evaluate the language following “malice aforethought” as the inclusion of the word “implied” in section 16-3-29 is arguably inconsistent with a specific-intent crime.** See Keys v. State, 104 Nev. 736, 766 P.2d 270, 273 (1988) (stating, “[o]ne cannot attempt to kill another with implied malice because there is no such criminal offense as an attempt to achieve an unintended result.”) Moreover, **if there is no evidence that one charged with attempted murder had express malice and a specific intent to kill, we believe the crime would involve a lower level of intent and, thus, would fall within the lesser degrees of the assault and battery offenses** codified in section 16-3-600. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (2015 & Supp. 2016) (identifying levels and degrees of assault and battery offenses).

King, 422 S.C. at 64 n.5, 810 S.E.2d at 27 n.5 (emphasis added).

The concurrence in King agreed with the majority that, after its holding, the notion of implied malice for specific intent crimes, such as attempted murder, would be problematic. Id. at 74, n.13, 810 S.E.2d at 32, n.13 (Kittredge, J., concurring). Specifically, the concurrence asserted, “For the reasons pointed out by the majority, it seems to me that **the concept of implied malice has no place in a prosecution for a specific intent crime.** The majority has wisely suggested that the General Assembly reevaluate the implied malice language in the statute in light of the Court’s holding that attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill.” Id. (Kittredge, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

Based on this Court's holding in King that attempted murder is a specific intent crime and that both express malice and a specific intent to kill are required for attempted murder, it is clear that the implied malice instruction given in this case over Respondent's objection was erroneous, and the Court of Appeals correctly held so. There is nothing inconsistent between the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and this Court ruling in King.

The state further maintained that the Court of Appeals erred by concluding the error in giving the inferred malice instruction was not harmless. It claims the Court of Appeals "disregarded the considerable evidence of malice that existed within the record." Pet. at 7. However, there was no evidence of express malice in this case. There was no evidence the shooting was premeditated or planned in advance as the state claimed. See Pet. at 8-9. The alleged "evidence of preparation" outlined by the state is simply not supported by the record. See Pet. at 8-9.

Even if there was some evidence of express malice, the standard for determining harmless error is not merely the "existence or nonexistence" of evidence as the state suggests. See Pet. at 11. The state's claim that "a charge on inferred malice from the use of a deadly weapon cannot be said to have contributed to the verdict when the record has been shown to include other evidence of malice" is not supported by this Court's precedent. See Pet. at 11. Notably, the state failed to cite to any authority for this proposition and no authority supports such a bright line rule. The standard for determining harmless error when an inferred malice instruction is erroneously given is not merely the "existence or nonexistence" of any evidence of malice. The standard is whether *beyond a reasonable doubt* the erroneous instruction did not contribute to the verdict. As the Court of Appeals held, the jury in this case could have reasonably found malice partially or solely based on the use of a weapon. See Campbell, 435 S.C. at 538, 868 S.E.2d at 419. Consequently, the error cannot be said to have been harmless.

Respectfully, this Court should deny certiorari as there are no “special or important reasons” to grant review. The Court of Appeals engaged in a straightforward application of this Court’s holdings in Burdette and King and correctly concluded that the trial court erred by instructing the jury that malice may be inferred by the use of a deadly weapon and that such error was not harmless.

II.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial court erred by charging the jury on the hand of one is the hand of all theory of accomplice liability since there was no evidence to support the charge, specifically there was no evidence Respondent was acting with another during the shooting or that the offense was committed pursuant to a common design or plan, particularly where the state’s theory of the case was that Respondent was the shooter and acted alone.

Introduction

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